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L INTRODUCTION!

In 1970, Bruce B. Wilson of the United States Department of Justice, Antitljust

.agr.eements which were .aﬁtiéqmpeﬁ.t.ive aﬁd iefefofe ﬁvéuld be pursued under the anf[’ijt;ust.laws
by the Department of Justice_..: ‘These provisi.oltl__s became cornmonly kpo:wn:t_c__) thc_ba; ?S_-th.‘? _;nine
~no-nos”. This paper will exanﬁriq thestatus of _fhe nme F‘hofﬁQS’f in light of :éﬁsé'law and
Department of Justic¢ policy which has :evolzx{ed smce Mr. ‘Wi:l_s_.on’s pronouncement. The‘p:aper
_allso will Qxamine the antitrust implications of kacqu.iring intellectual property and in __re‘ﬁlsitllg to
license_:‘ 1ntellectual property, as well as ot_hg; liftigati_dn»zr_eigtgd i‘gsgcs. Finally, 'thle._pazp.c._ar will

| address '{is:sue's‘ unique to trademark and copyright law.

““ II.  THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE PATENT MISUSE

DOCTRINE AND ANTITRUST ALLEGATIONS .
Anticompetitive acts constituting patent misuse ié é:ébﬁqpie'té defense to a ﬁafent
infringement actioh. Senza-Gel Corp. v. Seiffhart, 803 F.2d 661, 668 (Fed. Cir. 1986). A
successful patent misuse defense results in rendering the patent unenforceable until the misuse
is purged. Id. at 668 n.10. The same acts may also be used offensively to constitute an element
of an antitrust claim. A successful complaint for antitrust violation results not only in
unenforceability but also in treble damages. Id. It is important to note that a patentee’s actions

“may constitute misuse without rising to the level of an antitrust violation.

1 I wish to acknowledge the contributions of Arthur Gray, Paul Heller, and Kevin
Godlewski. I also acknowledge use of a paper by Gerald Sobel of Kaye, Scholer,
Fierman, Hays & Handler, entitled “Exploitation of Patents And The Antitrust
Laws.” ' -

- Division, laid out what -he considel_'ed-to-be--nin‘_‘gpggyigjpl_’l‘s_ gop;mgnlx_fqpnd_lin patent ]@pex_;se S
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Patent misuse is viewed as a broader wrong than antitrust violation because of
- the economic power that may be derived from the patentee’s right to exclude.
~ Thus misuse may arise when conditions of antitrust violation are not met. The
. kev mqulrv 1s whether, by imposing conditions that derlve the1r force from the o

o _patent the patentee has 1mperm1551biy broadened the scope of the patent grant
_ :._W_l'ih antlcomp_etltlve effect_ : :

C.R. Bard Inc. v. M3 Sys. Inc., 157 F.3d 1340, 1372 (Fed. Cir. 1998), cert. denied, 119 S. Ct.

1804 (1999).

HI. . ANALYTICAL TOOLS FOR ANTITRUST ISSUES

A PERSEANALYSIS
: | anain typesjo{f conduct presumably restrain trade and are _therefqre. per se
: .i.l_legal. The Supreme Court eti.Il uses the per se analysis in some situations.. See Jefferson
Par}i_sfz ﬁq;pital V. Hyde_, 466 U.S. 2 (1984). Ho_wever, the.‘_ per se rtlle should not :pegess_qtily be
considered a “pure” per se rule.. The per se rule is applied when elt;teunding circumstances
make the likelihood of anticompetitive conduct so great as to render unjustified further
examination of the challenged action. NCAA v. Bqard of Regents pf Univ. of Oklahoma, 468
_‘ U;'ST 85,104 (1986). Sin_ceCon_gress intended to outlaw only unreasc_utable restraints on trade,
. the quljeme. Court deems un]awful__ per se only tholse restr_ajnts_which “have such predictable
and p_er_tlieiqus z:n_lticompetitive_ effect, end .s‘uch: limited potential _fot_pro competitive benefit.”
State Oil Co v. Khan, 522 US 3, 118 8. Ct. 275, 279 (1997). The Court expresses a
“reluctance” to _adept per se rules with regard to “restraints imposed in the context of business
relatienshjps where the__econom__ie impact of certain practices is ttot_immediately‘ ot;v'tous.” Ad.,
quoting FTC v. Indiana Federation of Dentists, 476 U.S. 447, 458-59 (1986).
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The Department of Justicé_ (DQJ) and the Federal Trade Commission (FTC)

released aﬁtitm_st guidelines in A'p'ril_(:)f 19_95"eritif[1¢d “U.S. Depa.rtmeni_of j;ist_ic_e & Federal

"in 4 Trade Reg. Rep. (CCH) T 13, 132 (April 6, 1995) (hereinafter “1995 IP Guidelines”). In
" the 1995 IP Guidelines, the DOJ and the FTC (collectively, “the Agencies™) remarked that
those licensing restraints which have been held to be per se unlawful include “naked price-
fixing, output restraints, and market division among horizontal competitors, as well as certain
group boycotts and resale price maintenance.” TP Guidelines, at 20,741. “The DOJ will
challenge a restraint under the per se rule when “there is no efﬁbiéncy-éhhancing ihtegration of
economic activity and if the type of restraint is one that has been accorded per se treatment.”
Ia’ The DOJ noted that, 'gerierally speaking, “licensing arrangeménts pfomdté such [efﬁciéncy -
enhancing] integration because they facilitate the combination of the licensor’s intellectual

property with complementary factors of production owned by the licensee.” Id

‘B. " RULE OF REASON ANALYSIS
Most antitrust claims are analyzed linder arule of reason,j “éccording to which
the finder of fact must decide whether the questioned pfactice 'imposes an unréaSénabié restraint
“on competition, taking into account various factors, including sbébiﬁc informéti(;'n aboﬁf the
relevant business, its ébndition Bef;o're. and after the restraint Wa's imposed, and the'res‘iraint."s
“history, nature, and éffect.” State Oil Co. v. Khan, -522'U.s.'3, 118 S. Ct. 275, 279“('159'7)(

" ‘When analyzing a restraint under the rule of reason, the DOJ will consider “whether the

Trade Commission, Antitrust Guidelines for the Licensing of Intellectual Property.” Reprinted -
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restraint is likely to have anticompetitive effects and, if so, whether the restraint is reasonably

necessary to achieve procompetiti-ve' benefits that dutweigh those éntiéompetitive effects.”

" 1995 IP Guidelines, at 20,740.

The 1995 IP Guidelines “embody three general principles: (a) for the purpose of

| anfitmst-gpalysis, the Agenéiés regard intellectual .property as being essen:ti;il_lly. comparable to

. any other'-.‘_form of prope'rty;f(b) the Ageﬂciés do not presurhg: that intell_ectujal.'propérty creates

market power in the antitrust cohtext; and (c) the Agencies reéognize that intellectual property

licensing allows firms to combine complementary factors of production and is generally

procompetitive.” 1995 EP Guidelines, at 20,734.

- “Licensing arrangements raise concerns under.the antitrust laws if they are likely

. to affect adversely :thé prices, quantities, qualities, or varieties of goods and services.either.

_ 'gurféﬂtly or potentially available.” Jd. at 20,737. In assessing the competitive effects of

licensing arrangements, the DOJ may be required to delineate goods markets, technology = .

. markets, or innovation (research and development) markets. Id.

When a licensing arrangement affects parties in a horizontal relationship,a .
restraint in that relationship may increase the risk of coordinated pricing, output
restrictions, or the acquisition or maintenance of market power.... The potential
for competitive harm depends in part on the degree of concentration in, the

- difficulty of entry into, and the responsiveness of suppiy and demand to changes
in price in the relevant markets.

Id at 20,742; see also State Oll Co V. Khan 118 S Ct. at 282 (“[t]he primary purpose of the

, antltrust laws is to protect 1nterbrand competltlon ”)

When the licensor and the hcensees areina vertlcal relatlonship, the Agencies will
_analyze whether the licensing arrangement may. harm competition among entities in a
' horizontal relationship at either the level of the licensor or the licensees, or possxbly in




another relevant market. Harm to competition from a restraint may occur if it
- anticompetitively forecloses access to, or increases competitors’ costs of obtaining,
nnportant mputs or facﬂ1tates coordmatlon to ralse price or restrict output

~IP Guidelines at 20,742.

If the Agencies conclude that the restraint has, or is likely to have, an antlcompetmve
‘effect, they will consider whether the restraint is reasonably necessary to achieve
procompetitive efficiencies. If the restraint is reasonably necessary, the Agencies will
balance the procompetitive efficiencies and the anticompetitive effects to determine the
probable net effect on competition in each relevant market.

Id at 20,743.

In an effort to encourage intellectual property licenaing agreements, which the
Agencies believe promote innovation and enhance competition, the IP Guidelines establish an
antitrust “saféty zone”. This “safety zone” is designed to create more stability and certainty for
those parties who engage in intellectual propei‘ty licensing. However, the “safety zone™ is not
intended to be the end-all for lawful, procompetitive intéllectual property licenses, as the
“Agencies emphasize that licensing arrangements are not anticompetitive merely because they
do not fall witliin"the scope of the safety zone.” Td, at 20,743-2. The “safety 'zone'” 1s defined
as follows; e "'

I.- " Absent extraordinary circumstances, the Ageneies Wlll _not ehallenge a
restraint in an intellectual property licensing arrangement if (1) the
restraint is not facially antlcompetmve and (2) the licensor and its

“licensees collectively account for no more than twenty percent of each
relevant market significantly affected by the restraint.... Whether a
restraint falls within the safety zone will be determined by reference only
to goods markets unless the analysis of goods markets alone would

o madequately address the effects of the licensing arrangement on
competmon among technologles or 111 research and development




N
/ :

Id ,(omphasli_s‘ added) (footnote omitted).

2

:Absent extraordmary cncumstances the Agencies will not challenge a

* restraint in an intellectuval property I1censmg arrangement that may affect

competition in a technology market® if (1) the restraint is not fac1ally
anticompetitive and (2) there are four or more independently controlled
technologies in addition to the technologies controlled by the parties to
the licensing arrangement that may be substitutable for the licensed

' __technology ata comparable cost to the user.

3.

Id. (em_phﬁ_sts added).

Absent extraordinary circuntstancés, the Agencies will not :challengo_z a
restraint in an intellectual property licensing arrangement that may affect

.compeutlon in an innovation market® if (1) the restraint is not facially

o . _anticompetitive and 2) four or more mdependently controlled entities in

addition to the parties to the llcensmg arrangement possess the required

.. specialized assets or characteristics and the incentive to engage in

research and development that is a close substitute of the research and
development activities of the parties to the licensing agreement,

Id. (emphasis added) (footnote omitted).

'Views on how the Antitrust Division héé conducted its rule of reason analysis to

16, 1985).

' determme Whether_a particular license violates the antitrust laws are reflected in Remarks of
.' ‘_R_o.gé‘:r B Andéwe.lft,' Déptity Director_ of Op_e.ratiorls, Arltitrust Di_\rision, before.tﬁe ‘A_merican

" Bar Association, Patent, Trademark & Copyright Section (hereinafter “Andewels (1985)”) (July

-7 . The 1995 Guidelines describe technology markets as con51st1ng of “the -
R 1nte11ectua1 property that is hcensed . and its close substltutes
23 The 1995 Guidelines describe innovation markets as con31st1ng of ‘the research

and development directed to particular new or improved goods or processes, and
the close substitutes for that research and development.”
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[Plerhaps the ultimate licensing issue -- how does the Antitrust Division conduct its rule
of reason analysis to determine whether a particular license violates the antitrust laws[7]
While patent licenses, even between competitors, [are] at their essence vertical and not
horizontal arrangements, they can in some circumstances have horizontal

antlcompetltlve effects. Our rule of reason ana1y51s would exclusxvely search for such -

o o honzon'&'ﬂ‘1 effeCtS

Andewelt (1985) at 18

= Id

" "Where an intellectual property licénse is merely a sham to hide per se illegal horizontal

restraints, such as an agreement to fix prices on products unrelated to the intellectual
property involved, the analysis of the lawfulness of the license is short and
condemnation certain. In all other situations, however, a more studied analy51s of the

 effect of the license would be required.

"_The analy51s typzcally would commence by isolating the relevant product and

geographic markets 1mpacted We would define these markets in the manner described

" for defining markets in the Antitrust Division’s Merger Guidelines. U.S. Department of

Justice Merger Gu1de11nes (Antltrust D1v1s1on June 14, 1984) 49 Fed. Reg. 26,823

' ”"(1984)

Id at 19.

‘Once the product and geographic markets are defined, the analysis would proceed with
" an assessment of the competitive effect of the license in these markets. The focus of this

analysis would not be on the extent to which the license creates competition between the

licensor and the licensée or among licensees. The licensor has no obligation to create

competition- antitrust policy demands only that the licensor not restrain competition. A

" patent license therefore typically will not be of competitive concern if it impacts only
~.competition in the use, manufacture, distribution, or sale of the patented invention; the
* " patent grant already glves the patent owner the nght to exclude all such competltmn

Id. at 19-20.

Instead of focusing on the failure to create competition, antitrust analysis should
generally focus on the extent to which the license decreases competition. Sometimes
the effect of a patent license extends beyond products embodying the patented invention
and can reach competition in competing products.- For example, licenses can decrease
competition compared to no license at all, when they decrease the licensee’s incentive or

- freedom to market products that compete with products embodying the invention, or

T,
. "




. decrease the 11censee s incentive or freedom to. engage in [research and development]
' almed at producmg such cornpetmg products

a2,
" The license is illegal if on a net basis it is anticompetitive. In addition... a particular
_provision [in a procompetltlve] license is illegal if it is anticompetitive in itself, and is

not reasonably related to serving any of the procompetitive benefits of the license.

Hdat2122.

“Iv." THENINE NO-NO’s -- LICENSING PROVISIONS TO WATCH FOR
A, TIE-INS
A ‘.“tie-ih”*i‘s an arrangement in which a sélier conditions the eele of its product
N “upon’a buyer’s jjnrchase of a separate prodiict from the seller or a designated thrrdparty The
a 'anticornpetit'.i'\re'tf:i‘ce is the dentel of ac.cle"s:s to 'th'e'nlarketi':for.the'tied product -
h '_'.Tying.iisfa ;n'er se violation of the Sherman Actonly if :'it is probable that the
'.'s‘elrlerhas. exploited its control over the tylng ‘.p'roduct- t force the buyer into the purcha:s"elofa
" tied product that the buyer either :d'id not want at all, or might have preferred to -p:o.rchase' -
elsewhere on different terms. 'Ijeﬁferson Parish, 466 US. at 12-16. |
In Jeﬁ"er.ron Pdrish, the per ..se'rUI'e was reaffirmed by éheré rnajority of the Snpreme
Court, with the soundness of the rute havmg come under attack. A's'stated bjr the court in
Mozart Co. v. Mercedes-Benz of North Amertca Inc 833 F.2d 1342, 1345 n.2 (9th Cir. 1987),
cert demed 488 U.S. 870 (1988)
e Two:fustices relied on Congress’ silence as a jn:stiﬁcetion for preserving the per se rule.

. See 466 U.S. at 32, 104 8. Ct. at 1568 (Brennan, J., concurring). Four Justices,
" recognlzrng ‘that tying arrangernents may have procompetitive effects, would analyze




these arrangements under the Rule of Reason. Id. at 32-47, 104 S. Ct. 1568-76
(O’Conner, J., concurring). Thoughtful antitrust scholars have expressed serious doubts
about the alleged anticompetitive effects of tie-ins. See 5 P. Areeda & D. Turner,
Antitrust Law 99 1129¢, 1134b (1980); R. Bork, The Antitrust Paradox 372- 75 (1978)

For a tle~1n to rlse to the level of an antltrust v1olat10n the seller must have “the . .

" power, w1th1n the 'market for the tying pro‘duet, to,_raise pri¢es_ or to re’_qpit‘e_ pmehasers to accept

burdensome terms that could not be exacted in a completely competitive market.:. In short, the
question is whether the seller has some advantage not shared by his competitors in the market
for the tying_ pteduct.’.7_ United Stat‘es__Steet’ Corp v. F ortner Entgrprt.gg; Inc:.? 429 US 610, 620
(1977). . |

__ Cou_rts have identified thr_ee: sources (_)f market power: ‘(:1.) when the government
.ha;_ts g.ran_ted: the se_lll_e_r‘ a patent er _stmilari r:rlonppoly.pver a product; (2) fwhen the__selt_er’s share of
the _ntarket is high; and (3) when th,e,: seller qffers_ a ut_lique prodltet t_hat cqr_npet‘itoll_'e are not able
to :offe_r._ Temingq v. Sh_ephe_rd 682F Supp. _1489, 1493 (C.D. Cal. 1988), Mozart Co. v.
_Merc_gdes-Ben_z_ of North America, 833 F2d at 1342, 1345-46. _Howevet, the Federgl Cigcuit,
wich bandisll appels incses g under the paent s b sttd ] pent docs
not of itself establish a presumption of market power in the antitrust sense._’_’ Abb_oz_‘z_‘ Lab. v
B'fjen.flz.q(ft, .952 F2d 13“46 (Fed. Cir. 19_91),_cer{t.. _denied, 505 U.S. 1205 (1992).

A l988ﬁlgmendme_1‘1t to the patent statute addres§es the matr_ket power

‘ regtlirements in a tie-in attalysig, in at least the patent misuse cc‘)tlt:ext._ 35U. 8.C. § 271(d)(5).
Under the statute, misuse shall not be found by reason of a patentee having ‘fconti_itierted the
:l_ieense of any right; to the patent or the sale of the patented prodtlct on the acqeis__ition ofa

license to rights iri another patent or purchase of a separate product, unless in view of the

C
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circumstances, the patent owner has market power in the relevant market for the pateﬁt or
patented product on which the license or sale is conditioned.”

" The Justice Departirient also will requite pfoof of market power, apart from the
existence of a patent right, in order to invoke the antitrust laws against a tie-in. The 1995 IP

Guidelines state that tying arrangements are likely to be challenged by the DOJ (and/or the

Federal Tradé"Cbmnii's_'siOh) if:

~ (1) the seller has market power in the tying product, (2) the arrangement has an adverse
 effect on competition in the relevant market for the tied product, and (3) efficiency
- justifications for the arrangement do not outweigh the anticompetitive effects. The
[DOJ and the FTC] will not presume that a patent... necessarily confers market power
" uponitsowner. -~ 7 R ' B
IP Gj.llidelines, at 20,743-3 (footnotes o.mittec'l') (emphasis added). The DOJ and the FTC define
market power as the “ability profitably to maintain prices above, or output below, competitive
levels for a significant period of time.” Id. at 20,735 (footnote omnitted).

""Even where market power is present, tie-ins may be justified and not violative of

the Sherman Act if they are technically necessary. In one case, tie-in provisions in a license

- agreement conditioning the license of a wood preservative on the use of a particular organic

“solvent were held to necessary to insure sufficient quality and effectiveness of the wood

preservative, and therefore not an antitrust violation. Jdacon Inc. v: Central Forest Products, 3
U.S.P.Q.2d 1079 (E.D. Okla. 1986). Likewise, tie-in provisions conditioning the sale of a
patented silo unloader on use of silos by the same manufacturer were held justiﬁéd where

attempts to use silos manufactured by others together with the patented product had proved

10




un;siucccﬁss_ﬁl.l.‘ Dehydrqting Process Co. v. A. O. Smith Corp., 292 F.2d 653 (1st Cir_.), cerl,

denied, 368 U.S. 931 (1961).

- The Ninth Circuit has ruled that a tie-in does not violate the antitrust laws if

implemented for a le.gitilrinate purpose and if .no less restrictive alltematilve is _ayéilable. I_In _

Mozart Co. v. Mercedes—Benz ofNorth Ame_rica, agreements between the qx_c_:}usive U.Ss.

distributor of Mercedes-Benz automobiles (MBNA) and franchised dealerships required the

: deal_crs_to_ sell only genuine Merced_e_s parts or parts ex_press_ly_ approy_ed by the _Gepfn_an
manufacturerof Mer_c‘cdé.s automobiles and thelr :“répl__aééméht parts The ébil_rt found substantial

eﬁider:léé t6 Suiﬁpoft MBNA’S claim that tﬁe tie-in was usé‘d to .assure‘: rqli'ci_l.ity_qpntrbl, and
concluded that tﬁe tie-in was implemented for a legitimate purpose, and that less restrictive

_ _glterp,atives were not available, 833 F.2d at 1348-51. Thus, there was no antitrust violation.

An issue which sometimes arises is whether a “product’ is a single integrated

.. product or two products tied together. In Unifed States v. Microsoft Corp., a divided panel of

the D.C. Circuit vacated a contempt order, ruling that Microsoft’s Windows 95/Internet .
Explprer péclgagg_is a genuine integration, and that Microsoft was not barred from of_fqring itas
one product pnder a previous consent de_c_re;:. 147 F.3d 935 (D.C. Cir. 1998). The court ruled
;‘ __ﬂ_lgt an integrated product is a product which “combines functionalities (which may aiso be
marketed separately and operated together) in a way that offers advantages unavailable if the
functionalities are bought separately and combined by the purchaser.” /d. at 948. The court
explained that: -

The question is not whether the integration is a #ef plus but merely whether there is a
plausible claim that it brings some advantage. Whether or not this is the appropriate test

-1
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'for antitrust law generally, we believe it is the only sensible reading of [the consent
. decree]. : : —

.t 950 (emphasis inoriginal). .
The dissenting .op.inioh urged a.-balancing test where:

the greater the evidence of distinct markets, the more of a showing of synergy Microsoft
must make in order to justify incorporating what otherwise would be an ‘other’ product
into an ‘integrated’ whole. If the evidence of distinct markets is weak, then Microsoft
can get by with a fairly modest showing (although perhaps not the minimal showing

- required by the majority). :

- dd. a1 959. The dissent also relied on Jefferson Parish, which it concluded did not permit a

. pproduct to be “integrated” s:impiy “where some benpefit .gxists as a result of joint provision.”. /d.
~at 961 (f:mp_ha_l_si_s in original).

o The use of trademarks in allgged.tying arrangements Sometimes has been - - -
challenged as a violation of the antitrust laws. In Siegel v. Chicken Delight, Inc., Chicken.
 Delight allegedly conditioned the licensing of its franchise name and trademark onthe .

,‘ franghi_s_ges’ purchasing cooking q:qqipmenjt,quod\ mixes a.nd packaging exclusively from

~ Chicken Delight. 448 F.2d 43.(9th ‘_C_ir,.-149_71)‘,l_ cert. denied, 405 U._S._955 (1972). The court

- held that the trademark itself was a“suc_parz_;tgitem for tying purposes, and so this contractual
agreement constituted a tying arrangement in violation of the Sherman Act. /d. at49-52. In
' . ruling that there existed two separate items for tying purposes, the court relied on the fact that it
was not essential to the fast food franchise that the tied products of cooking equipment, food
mixes and packaging be purchased from Chicken Delight. Id. at49.. However, in Krehl v.
Baskin-Robbins Ice Cream Co., the Baskin-Robbins trademark was held.not to be a separate

item from ice cream for tying purposes, because the ice cream was made by Baskin-Robbins “in

12




accordance with secret formulae and processes.” 664 F.2d‘_13A48 (9th Cir. 1982). Likewise, in
Principe v. McDonald’s Corp., the Fourth Circuit found allegedly tied products to be integral
components of the business method being franchised, and réjected an antitrust suit. 631 F.2d

303 (4th Cir. 1980), cert. denied, 451 U.S. 970 (1981). -

B GRANTBACKS

| A érantbéck is a license provision in which a patentee requires a licensee to
: aSsign or license improvements 1o the patent to the patentee. The Supreme Court has held that a
" rule of reason test, not a per se test, should be used to analyze the propriety of grantback's; See
Transparent-Wrap Machine Corp. v. Stokes & Smith Co., 329 U.8. 637, reh. denied, 330 U.S.
.854 (1947) (grantbacks are not per sé against public interest, and the specific grantback
provision at issue was not per se illegal dﬁd:unenfdrcléablé)’;' No case appears to have held a
grantback clause standing alone to be an antitrust violation, Cf United States v: Timken Roller
Bearing Co., 83 F. Supp. 284, 289 (N.D. Ohio 1949), aff'd, 341 U.S. 593 (1051), overruled by
Copperweld Corp. v. Independince ‘Tﬁée Corp., 467 U.S.752/(1984) (the exclusive grantbeack
provision did not by itéelf violate the antitrust laws - only in conjunction with the other illegal
practices were the grantbacks “integral parts of thé general schemne to suppress frade.”).

"7 'Courts have articulated ‘many factors relevant to the rule of reason analySi§: for
grantbacks, among them:

‘(@) whether the grantback is exclusive or nonexclusive; ©~

13
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(i)  if exclusive, whether the licensee retains the right to use the

improvements;

* (i) whether the grantback précludes, petmits or requires the licensor fo grant
. sﬁbliéeﬁséé; |
(iv) whether the grantback is limited to the scope of the licensed Patenfs or
" covers inventions which would not infringe the liéénséd patent;
| ) the duration of the grantback; |
~(vi)  whether the gfahtback is royalty-ffee; |
(vii) the market power of the parties;
(viii)  whether the parties are competitors; and,
(ix) ‘the effect of the gréihtbéiék on the ih;:éntive for deVéIopmen'taI research,

Grantback of patented subject matter broader than that of the paténts ofiéiﬁally

licénsé:_él (rél_ating _tq the _ejn_tire :ﬁe_ld.rat'her thanonly the ig,\_'/cntive con_ce'pti in the licensed
- machiﬂéé) has b_ée_n 'hel_c.l_.tc'.): be a 'p_é;tént mlsuse, but n'or_’_c‘ an antitfﬁs;.violaﬁion,_ Duplan Corp. v.
Deering Milliken, Inc., 444 F. Supp. 648 (D.S.C. 1977), aff'd in part, rev'd in part, 594 F.2d

' 979'(dth Cir. 1979), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 101 5 (1980). But see Robintech, Inc. v. Chemidus

Wavin Lid, 450 F. Supp. 823 (D.D.C. 1978), aff'd, 628 F.2d 142 (D.C. Cir. 1980).

The existence of alternative competitive processes to that'iﬁ the 'orig'inal license
militates in favor of upholding the grantbacks. Santa Fe-Pomeroy Inc. v. P & Z Co., Inc., 569 |
F.2d 1084 (9th Cir. 1978). Pertinent considerations in assessing grantbacks include the effect

on incentive to invest, see U.S. v. General Electric Co., 82 F. Supp. 753, 856-58 (D.N.J. 1949),

14




and on competition, see International Nickel Co. v. Ford Motor Co., 166 F. Supp. 551
(S.D.N.Y. 1958).
... /Anetwork of grantback arrangements an in industry, resulting in the funneling
of all inventions to the original patentee perpetuating his control after his basic patents expired
_may be illegal. Transparent-Wrap, 329 U.S. at 646-47 (1946) (dictum). See also U.S. v.
General Electric Co., 82 F. Supp. at 816, where such an arrangement contributed to GE’s
continued control over incandescent lamp pricing and production volume of its competitors
 after the patents on the lamp had expired, and was held to be a violation of § 2 of the Sherman
Act.
Currently, the DOJ evaluates grantback provisions under a rule of reason
approach, paying particular attention to whether the grantback is exclusive and whether the
 licensor has market power in the relevant market.
~ Ifthe Agenmes determine that a partlcula.r grantback provision is likely to reduce
" significantly licensees’ incentives to invest in improving the licensed technology, the
_Agencies will consider the extent to which the grantback provision has offsetting
* procompetitive effects, such as (1) promotmg dissemination of licensees’ improvements
__to the licensed technology, (2) increasing the licensors’ incentives to disseminate the
licensed technology, or (3) otherwise increasing competition and output in a relevant
~ technology or innovation market. In addition, the Agencies will consider the extent to
‘which grantback provisions in the relevant markets generally increase licensors’

incentives to innovate in the first place.

IP _G_u_ide_line_s, at 20,743-45, _
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C.  RESTRICTIONS ON RESALE OF PATENTED PRODUCT

Wilson’s prohibition considered it unlawful to attempt to restrict a purchaser of a

patented product in the resaleof fﬂetl'producf. However, eriii'csfcehteﬁ& ihéi't"restrietioh,s on
resale should be jl'i.dged. byanaly31s p'eralle'l to other veftical restraints. A s'eller.lia'é a fightﬁll
'. '.i'ncer;lﬁve to achie\}e max1mum economic return from intellectual property. |
" Since the pat:ent'righf "is ekhaust.ec’i.by the ﬁrst sale of the patenteci .é&icle, use
restrictions geﬂerélly may not be impoéed thereafter. E. g'.,-A'dams v. Burke, 84 U.S. (17 Wall.)
- 453 (1873); U.S. v. Univis Lens Co., 316 U.S. 241(1942) For examble,'restricfions on bulk
sales of drug products have been upheld in maﬂufacfﬁring Iicenses, but not upen resale By e
purchaser. U.S. v Glaxo Group, Lid, 410 U.S. 52,62 (1973); U.S. v. Ciba-Geigy Corp., 508 F.
Supp 1118 (DNJ : 19.76);'. see also United States v. Bristol-Myers Co.,. 82 FRD 655 '(D.D;C.'
1979) (consent decree enjoined manufacturer from festrél_ining' the sale of drﬁgs 'ih‘.bulk:fonh.
' and ﬁ'or_n irh-pos'in'g restrictions on reeele); :
‘. In Mallinckrodt, fnc. v. Medzpart, Iﬁe., the batehtee had affixed a “Single Use
Only” label onits patented medical inhaler device,' used to deliver radioactive material to the
lungs of a patient. 976 F.2d 700 (Fed. Cir. 1992). The patentee sued for alleged induced
infringement .'a'gainst refurbishing the inhaler devi'ceé in violation of the p'reh.ibition against
reuse. Id at 701, In reversing a grair:[: of summary jiidgmentlfolr the alleged infringer, the
Federal Ci‘.reﬁi:c'held thf.it:. this single use only restriction was niot per e patent misuse, nor illegal
under the antitrust .laws.l The Federal Circuit exp.Iaiﬁed that “[t]he eﬁpropriéte cri'tell"ionl [fo'f

" analyzing a restriction on a licensee’s use] is whether [the] restriction is reasonably within the
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patent grant, or whether the patentee has ventured beyond the patent grant and into behavior

having an anticompetitive effect not justifiable under the rule of reason.” /d. at 708.

-~ Similarly, in B Braun Medical-Inc. v Abbott Laboratories, the Federal Circuit |

re‘_y.ers-ed‘ ﬁ Jury ve;diéi of .IIn'iéguse I_whiéh was baséd on ]ury i_nstructioﬁs ‘th?t:any__us_e reé_tricﬁoné
accompanying the sale of a patented item were impermissible. _124 F.3d 1419 (F_erd.‘ Cir. 1997).
'}"h_e court cited two “common” examples of impgr_m_iss_ible restrictionsas use of the patent to
7 ;'f:strain competition i.n.an unpa_tented préduct, and srp_ployjng the patent bg?ygnd its term.
Howev;er, where a condition dp;::s nc_’).t impermissibly broaden th::__‘phy.sical or .jtempgral scope of
the patent grant with anticompetitiye effeg_t_,: there is no mis_use_. ‘
In PSC Inc. v. Symbol Tech. Inc.,26 F. Supp:..Z.d 505 (W.D.N.Y. 1998), the

district court ruled that it was patent misuse for a lic.er}s_or to attempt to ‘?0151?',‘3? rqyalti;s_from
two licensees fqr the same patents, covering the same _pr__odgpts_. The court statcd.that the
patentee’s “attefnpts to collect royalties for the same p_rf)duct violates the e_)'_d_l__'c_ms‘tion d_oc;t_rine,
and irﬁpermi_ssib_ly extends the scope of the patent grants.” Id. at 5'10, citing__lntel Corp. v. ULSI
Sys. T éch., Inc., 995 F.2d 1566, 1558 (Fed. _Cir_. 1993); _Cyzfix Corp. . I_Intel Corp., 846 F.
| Sul?p.. 522, 539 (ED Tex.), aﬁfd,f}Z F.3d 1411 (Fg:d. C1r 1994).

- In U{zited &qtes v. Arnold, Sc_hwingz & Co., a case not dea_Iir_lg with patented
prbducts, thg _S\_upremc Cog;t held that _te_r;itorial restrgigts_i_mpo;ed_ by a manufgc’gurer on resale
~ by its customers pon_s_tituted_ aper se Violatién of the Sherman Act. 388 U.8.365 (197_6),
-overrzitl_ed: by Contiflental T V Inc.v. GTE Sylvanfa, Inc., 433 U.S. 36 (1977). Ina fo§tnote, the

Court alluded to the possibility of a different rule as to patented products, but declined to decide
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the issue. (“We have no occasion here to consider whether a patentee has any greater rights in

this respect.”).

77" Field of use restrictions, which restrict the type of customer to whom a

" manufacturing licé'ns'ee-may. sell and the type of article it may make, use and sell, generally are

upheld as lawful. The seminal case in this regard.is General Talkiﬁg Pictures Corp. v. Western

Electric Co. 304 U. S. 175, aff'd on reh.; 305 U.S. 124 (1938), reh. denied, 305 U.S. 675

" (1939). Although General Talking Pictures remains essentially unencumbered by later

Supreme Court pronouncements on antitrust issues, lower courts “have occasionally

' distinguished [it] and held the restraint illégal where they perceived that the field-of-use

restriction was bei{'ng used to extend the patent into areas not protected by the paténf

monopoly...” United States v. Studiengesellschaf! Kohle m.b.H, 670F.2d 1122,1133 (DC Cir.

1981). It is important to'keep in mind that eﬂtho_ugh courts are reluctant to find ficld of use

restrictions a violation of the Sherman Act, they will hold unlawful such restrictions if the

patent is being “stretched . . . to continue the monopoly after the sale of the product.” Munters .

" Corp. v. Burgess Indus., Inc., 201 US.P.Q. 756, 759 (S.D.N.Y. 1978). One court has explained

that, under the rule of reason approach set forth in Continental T V,"Inc". v. GTE Sylvania Inc,

433 U.S. 36 (1977), “what is beyond the protection of the patent laws in this."clas.e is also

 forbidden by the antitrust laws.” 201 U.S.P.Q. at 759,

" The Justice Department has indicated that restrictions on resale ought to be

" judged by the same general standards as those that ought to be in use outside t.héc.i)at.ent ﬁeId,

that is, the rule of reason ex'pre-ssed in Continental T.V.
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D.  RESTRICTIONS ON LICENSEE’S FREEDOM TO DEAL IN
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES NOT IN SCOPE OF PATENT

. Wilson’s prohibition stated that a patentee may not restrict its licensee’s freedom

to deal in products or services not within the scope of the patent. However, critics contend that

._ } the rule has Do general validity in ‘the__verticail_ context.
. | 'Severa_l Courts have held that it _is.a patent misuse to requirg a licensee to refrain
~ from q¢gling in competitivg prpdu_cts. _Seg Berlenbach V. Ander;on & Thompson Ski Co., 329 |
F.2d 782 .(9.t_h_ Cir.), cert. denied, 379 U.S. _83Q'L(1964); Mcgull_ough v. Kammerer Corp.,166
F.2d 759 (9t1‘1_”Cir._), cert. denied, 335 U.S. 313 (1948); Natiqr?al Lgck Wq;he{*:Co. v. George K.
Garrett CO_" ?1_37 F 2d255 (3d Clr 1'9”43); Krampe v. _Ideqi Incju;f, Inc., 347 F Supp. 1384
(N D 111. 1972). At least one court, however, has uphel@_ a proyi__s_i_qn c%onve_rting a license
from g_xc}usive to :r}pn-e;;_qlusi\{? if the licensee handled competing prod_uc_:ts. See ﬁaxén .
Telrt_e:,s"ign‘ Qorp. V. Bun_kgr Ramo Corp., 517F. Supp. 804 (N :D_. 11_1.. 198_1), qﬁ“ d, 686 F.2d 1258
N (7th Cir. 1982). ‘Moreover, at least one court has ruled that the amendment to 35 U.S.C. §
- 27 1(d)(5), precluding a presumption of market power from the existence of a patent, applies to
a_ffti_g-out.” Inre _Recon__zbz'_nan{ DNA Tecljt. Patent &, Contract Ifi;‘.,: 85ﬂ0j_¥_~_‘. Supp _76?,._7_7§-‘_'_7_7 _
(S.D. Ind. 1994).
When a license prevents a licensee from _c}egling in.cqmpetipg technologies, the

DOJ w111 evalqate ‘tt:le agreement under the rule of reason. Th_g DOJ will consider whether such
an arrangement “1s likely to }';:duce competition in a relevant mlgrket,.;,fpak[i_ng] into account the

extent to which the arrangement (1) promotes the exploitation and development of the
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licensor’s téchnology'and (2) anticompetitively forecloses the exploitétion and developmént of,

or otherwise constrains competitively forecloses the exploitation and development of, or

__otherwise constrains competition among, competing technologies.” IP Guidelines, at 20,743-4.

E.  LICENSEE CONSENT REQUIRED FOR
LICENSOR TO GRANT OTHER LICENSES -

The prohibition stated that it is unlawful for a patentee to agree with its licensee
that it will not grant licenses to anyone without the licensee’s consent. However, a licensee’s

success in exploiting a patent depends upon its investment in research and development, the

. fl‘].lits of ‘wh_ich_may not be patentable; in its physical plant; in its goodwill; and in its marketing

g'apability-. ‘_That_i_nv_estrr‘nent may be justified only if the licensee expects some level of return.
Ihe__qu}‘_eme_Cour“_[? in E. Bement & Sons v. National H’arrow Co., held that it wasnota . -
person to manufacture-or sell any licensed product of the peculiar style and construction then
used or sold by the licensee. 186 U. 8. 70 (1902). The Court noted that any agreement
- containing such a provision is proper “for the protection of the individual who is the licensee,
and is nothing more in effect than an assignment.or sale of the exclusive right.tp manufacture
andx.\__ze_nd the aﬁ_ic}e.’f Id at94. ..
The current view of the DOJ is that “generally, an exclusive license may raise
anti@st concerns only if the licensees themselves, or Athe licensor and its licensees, areina
ho;iz__on_tal r_;lationshjp.” IP G}lidelings, at 20,742. Examples of 7such. licensing arrangements

which may raise antitrust concerns “include cross-licensing by parties collectively possessing
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market power, grantbacks, and acquisitions of intellectual property rights.” Jd. (citations

omitted).

The prohibition stated that mandatory _pg;kage licqnsiqg_ is an unlawful extension

of the patent grant. The justiﬁcat.i':o.n. is that'it 1s more efficient to allow pafties to negotiate on a
- per patent basis rather than forcing packages. This rule encotitages a free market because
““people will pay for what théy want, leaving what they do not want for someone who values it
more. This aids efficient allocation of resources. However, this is not a world with perfect
" information and zero transaction costs. ‘Package licensing allows a patentee to maximize the net
“feturn on a portfolio of patents, given the restraint on thé patentec’s limited kﬂéwledgé' o

concerning the value of the patents to different licensees, and the ease with which it can s

negotiate separate licenses for each patent. Profit from the package is limited to the maximum
“amount the patentee could extract lawfully in the world of perfect information and zero =~

transaction costs.

" Compelling the Ticensing of patents not dési'red'by'ﬂfé”iié‘éhseé 45 & condition for
receiving a Jicense under desired patents, has been held f,o be an antltrustvmlatifon “Zenith
Radio Corp. v. Hazeltine Research, Inc., 395 U.S. 100 (1969). “S‘;migarly; -disc'ri;;iiﬁatory' -
‘toyalties which economically cause the same result have also "beé.:ri' held illegal. Id.; cf
Studiengesellschaft Kohle m.b.H. v. Northern Petrochemical, 225 U:SP.Q. ,19&, 197 (N D.1IL

°1984), rev’d & remanded on other grounds, 784 .24 351 (Red. Cir.), cert. denied, 478 U. S.
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1028 (1986) (plaintiffs" offer t:o"li_cense pei?tfe_ht ,sep'aratcly from "pac};a_'g_e of fiﬁatents and

applications including first patent at same royalty as the entire pat:kégé held not to be misuse

 where the toyalty was no more thah that charged fo the fitst patent in & third party license).
“Trade is restrained, frequently in an unreasonable manneér, when tights to use
individual patents or copyrights may be obtained only by paymeﬁt for a package of such rights-
- but the opportunity to acquire a package of rights does not restrain trade if an alternative
** opportunity to acquire individual rights is fully available.” Columbia Broadcasting Systems,
" Inc., v. ASCAP, 620 F.2d 930, 935-36 (2d Cir. 1980), cert. denied. 450 U.S. 970; reh. denied,
| 450 U.S. 1056 (1981) (pércentége fee licensing of all ccpy¥ighted musical compositions in
‘inventory of performing rights organization does not Violate the rule of reason under §1 of the
Sherman Act since users may negotiate directly with copyright EO‘Wners); “see also Western
" Electric Co. v. Stewart-Warner Corp., 631 F.2d 333, 338-39 (4th Cir. 1980), cert. denied, 450
“U.8. 971 (1981) (no coercive package licensing, where no showing that “Western did not give
* [licensee] a choice to take a license under :thé;Derick-Fros'ch'pat'éﬁt- alone or in combination
‘with other patents on reasonable terms.”)
The Department of Justice has stated that it no longer believes that mandatory
package licensing is inherently unlawful. Package licensing allows the patentee to maximize
- the net return on its patent portfolio. The DOJ has recognized that package licensing can be
‘éfficient in that it avoids the niecessity of costly individual négotiations between the parties with

respect to each patent.
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_G. . CONDITIONING LICENSE ON ROYALTIES NOT
' REASONABLY RELATED TO SALE OF PRODUCTS
COVERED BY THE PATENT .

v rbe-prohibition had stated that it is unlawiul for 2 patentee-to/insist, asp. o
N cpqditio.n of the license, that a licensee pay royalties not reasonably related to the licensee’s
. s_ale,sr of products covered by the licensed patent.
. Itis not per se a misuse of patepts to require a licensee to pay royalties based on
a pgrc_en?gge: of its sales, even though none of the patents ar_é.used._ Automatic Rclz;_dio;_ Company
v Hqgelting,_ 339 U.S. 827, 830-34, reh. denied, 340 ._U..S.-846_(1950).'. “A patent empowers the
owner to exact rgyalfcies as _highas he can negotiate with the leverage of that“ monopoly.” -
. .Bruloﬂe v. Thys, 379 U.8. 29,33 (1964), reh. denied, 379 U.S. 985 (1965). .Likewisc,.a
patentee/licensor is not required to g@ne_gqti_ate_an.cxis_ting_agrec_ment to change the royalty
~scheme from one based on the right to use any of group of patents, to one based on royalties for
, .‘;ach spcgiﬁed:patent used. Hullv. Brunswick Corp., T04 F .2d 1195 (10th 'Cir.‘ 1983). “If the
mutual convenience or efficiency of both the licensor and the licensee results in a royalty base
which includes the licensee’s total sales or sales of nonpatented items, there can be no patcht
_misus_e.”_ Magnavox Co. V. Mattell Inc., 216 U.S.P.Q. 28,59 (N.D. I1l. 1982).
However, to use ’;he leverage of a patent to project royalty payments beyond the
Iifeofthepatenthasbe_enhgldtobeanillggalenlargemgntofthepatentgrant._ Brulotte, 379 U.S. at 33.
- The Eleventh Circuit also has employed a similar rationale in striking down a hybrid agreement

_ licensing patent rights and trade secrets, where royalty obligations remain unchanged after .
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patents expire, as unenforceable beyond the date of explratlon of the patents Pztney Bowes,

Inc V. Mestre 701 F. 2d 1365 (11th Clr) cert. demed 464 U. S 893 (1983)

T

A hcensor.may collect royaltles on the manuta_cture_ _ot 1tems based on

" ._hconﬁ'dential information that is within the scope of a patent application, even where the patent
does not uItimately issue. In Aronson v. Quick Point Pencil Co.., the Supreme Court upheid a
| contract providing' for the payment of royalties in exchange for the right to make or selli a

keyhotder even though the patent on the keyholder was ultlmately reJ ected and the llcensed

conﬁdentral mfonnatron became pubhc 440 U S. 257 ( 1979) Ltkew1se a manufacturer may

 be obhged to pay royaltles under an agreement 1nvolv1ng a patent apphcatton even though the

scope of the 1ssued patent was narrower than the ortgtnal patent apphcatlon referred to in the

| agreement See Shackelton v.J Kauﬁnan Iron Works’ Inc., 689 F. 2d 334 (2d Clr 1982) cert.

| rdemed 460 U. S 1052 (1983). However the Slxth and Seventh CerLlltS have held that the

Biulotte rule precludes enforcement of hcense prov1s1ons extendlng beyond the statutory patent

grant perlod for an 1tem that was unpatented at the time the agreement was executed, 1f such

license provisions were agreed'to in anticipation‘of patent protection. Boggild v. Kenner

Products; 776 F. 2d 1315 (6th Cn‘ 1985) cert. demed 477 U.S. 908 (1986) Meehan v. PPG

".Indus Inc., 802 F. 2d 881 (7th Ctr 1986) cert. demed 479 U. S 1091 (1987)

A package 11cense agreement which requlres the constant payment of royaltles

.beyond the explration of some of the patents until the explratlon of the last patent has been

deemed vahd tf Voluntanly entered mto Beckman Instruments Inc. v. Techmcal Development

Corp., 433 F.2d 55, 61 (7th Cir. 1970) cert. denied, 401 U S 976 (1971) McCullough Tool
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Co V. Well Surveys Inc 343 F. 2d 381 (IOth C1r 1965) cert. denied, 383 U. S. 933 reh
denzed 384 U.s. 947 reh denied, 385 U.S. 995 (1966) Cohn V. Compax Corp 220 U.S. P Q

1077,1082 (NY App. Div. 24 1982)

Dlscrlmlnatory 11censmg“rates whlchlmpatr eornpentton may constitute patent

| rnlsuse and an antitrust v1olat10n See Laztram Corp V. ng Crab Inc., 245 F Supp 1019 (D.
Alaska 1965) (charglng twice as much to lessees of patented shrlmp peeling machlnes in the
Northwest than to Iessees in the Gulf of Mex1co area because of the labor eosts of the lessees in
the Northwest was held to ‘constltute patent. rnﬂl.sus.e where the Northwest canners suffered
._ .compentlve m]ury) LaPeyre v. F. TC' 366 F. 2d 117 (Sth C1r 1966) (same pract1ce held to be
an unfair method of competltlon in v1o}at10n of Sectlon 5 of the FederaI Trade Commlssmn
| Aet) Peelers Co V. Wendt 260 F. Supp 193 (W D. Wash 1966) (same practtce held to be a
v1olat10n of Sectlon 2 of the Sherrnan Act) See also Allzed Research Products Inc v. Heatbath
lCorp 300F. Supp 656 657 (N D. Ill 1969) (patentee ] refusal to 11cense its patented |
ltechnology to Heatbath “solely because of a personaI dlspute although a 11cense had
.prev1ously been granted to Heatbath’s compet1tor held to be patent misuse. The court declared
that “Alhed had no rtght to refuse a hcense to Heatbath as to fthe pr1or lteensee] ”) -

| In a later case tn\rolvang another shnrnp peehng patent, a dtstr1ct court held that a
uniform royalty rate based on uncleaned shnmp poundage was not d1scr1m1natory, et/en though
“ hcensees m the Northwest reahzed less shrlmp after the cookm.g and cleamng process than dld
hcensees in other reglons Laztram Corp V. Depoe Bay Fzsh Co 549 F Supp 29 1983 1

Trade Cas (CCH) T 65,268 (D Ore. 1982)
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In USM Corp. v. SPS Teéhﬁblogies, Inc., 694 F.2d 505, 513, cert. denied 462

U.S. 1107 (1983), the court held thafdis'criminéfory licensing rates did not constitute patent

N

e ;i;iSﬁsé'Whéré plaintiff “made no effort to present evidence of actual or probable anticompetitive |

" effect in a relevant market.”

The Seventh Circuit has held that an agreement between a patent owner and

licensees to charge a company a sﬁBstantiailj'f higher royalty for a license than that being paid

by other industry members does not amount to a per se violation of § 1 of the Sherman Act.

Such an agreement should be tested uﬁdér_fhe rule of reason. Hennessey Inds. Inc. v. FMC

" Corp., 779 F.2d 402 (7th Cir. 1985).

| Although the 1995 IP Guidéliﬁés are silent as to the royalty rates to be allowed ”

in patent licenses, prior DOJ statements indicate that it will consider the reasonableness of the

~patentee’s choice of method for apprdxifnatiﬂg the value of the license parélﬁduht, not the

actualroyalty .p'éid on the sale of the patenféél item. Sales may' be a reasonable method in some

instances, but not in others. Where the patentee and licensee are horizontal competitors, a rule

 of reason approach should .b'e'ém'plc;};e':d against the risk of unnecessary cartelization.

'H"  SALES RESTRICTIONS OF PRODUCTS MADE BY
PROCESS PATENT

~ Wilson’s prohibition stated that it is unlawful for the owner of a process patent
to attempt to place restrictions on its licensee’s sales of products made by the patented process,
since it enables the patentee to attain monopoly control over something not necessarily subject

to his control by virtue of the patent grant.
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A number of courts have analyzed the validity of restrictions on use of an

unpatented product of a patented process. In the seminal case, Unifed States v.

to a process which pemﬁtted the liceﬁsee .only to. ﬁse .the resulting prodgqt, but not sell it, was
valid.. 670 F.2d 1122, 1130 (D.C._Cir‘ 1981).

In Szfu.dieﬂgesel]schaﬁ, Zieg_ler held a patent on a process for maklng certain
catalysts_ (WhiCh themselves were usgf_ul_ to make plastics). Ziegler licensed one manufacturer
(Hercules) to sell the catalyst made from the process patent. _. Ziegle; re;quire_d other l_i_ccnsees to
 restrict use of the catalyst solely to meet their own needs for ma_kjng plastics, ‘.and__pr.ohibited
| lt_herr:r‘ll from sglling the_ catalyst on the open ‘market_..__ The court, using a rule of reason analysis,

- :I.1e_1d that this was a V?Hd_ restric_tioin_ because the patentee was legally entitled to grantan
exclusive lichse_to a single licenseg if he so df’ﬁircda thereby prohibiting any use of thg_p;oééss
b_yrothers_. Id at 1131. _Therefpre_:, the patentee was not deemed to have acted .“un{cagogably”

- under the antitrust laws since he had taken the less extreme step of licensing additional

—Studiengesellschaft Kohle,-m.b.H.the-Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit held that a license .

manufacfurers?' subj ectto the condition that the x_@:ﬁ}ilteiﬂtfp:(_)du(;t_ be restricted to their own use.
Id at 1131, 1135. In justifying this conclusion, the court stated that the licensor had no

monopoly over the _pppatented produ(_:t_prolduc_el_d by .chfir processes. The court stated that a de
facto monopoly of the product can continue only so long a.s.'. i.ts';.)rocés‘s .re.n'lains “so superior to
 other processes that [the uhpaténted prodﬁét] made by those other prbcéSses could not compete

" commercially. . ” Id at1129.
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The same Ziegler patents and licenses also had beéﬁ examined in Ethyl Corp. v.

Hercules Powder Co., 232 F. Supp. 453, 455-56 (D. Del. 1963). In Ethyl Corp., the district

_ court rlled that Ziégler could not convey an exclusive right to scll the product of the paterited

process. The court explained that a process patentee “can restrict the use of his process, but he

' cannot pléCe controls on the sale of unpaténted articles pr(')duc"ed‘ by the process.”' Id. However,

~ina supplerhehtal; opinion, the court did state (somewhat semantically) that, although the

patentee could not convey an exclusive right to sell the catalyst -- which was unpafénted - it

could convey an exclusivé license to use the patented process to make product for the purpose

“of sale. Thus, the patentee also could prevent another licensee from using the process to make

prddxiét"'fdi':sale. Id. at 460.

“" " There has beena split of authority in caselaw as to whethér a patentee may limit

 the quéfiﬁty of an unpa‘éented p'roduét‘produc'ed'by a license under a process or machine patent.

Compa}'e United States v. General Electric Co., 82 F. Supp. 753, 814 (D.N.]. 1949), a'ndr

American Equipment Co. v. Tuthill, 69 F.2d 406 (7th Cir. 1934), with Q;szs, Inc. v. Johnson &

~

Jolinson, 109 F. Supp. 657 (D.N.J. 1951), aff'd in part, modified in part, 207 F.2d 509 (3d Cir.

'1953), cert. denied, 347 U.S. 935 (1954),

An interesting quiestion is whether restrictions in a license of a trade secret
process shiould be treated any differently under the antitrust laws from a process patent license.
At least one case advises that the licensor of a trade secret process may restrict the use of a
product of that process as long as the restriction may be said to be ancillary to a commercially

supportable licensing arrangement, rather than a sham set up for the purpose of controlling
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~ competition while avoiding the consequences of the antitrust laws. Christianson v. Colt Indus.

Operating Corp., 766 F. Supp. 670, 689 (C.D. Ill. 1991), quoting A. & E. Plastik Pak Co. v.

. arrangement isa sham, the court will examine fch_e licensor’s secret process to determine the

extent of know-how ar technology exclusively possessed by _the'licenso_r, and proy_ided to the
licensee, and whether the substance of such technology may fairly be_sa_id_to support ancillary
_restrai_n_t_s.‘r A & E. Plastik Pak, 396 F.2d at 715. Under the Chris{ianson casc, aparty

. c_@allenging such a license provision bears the burden of proving by clear and convincing

: :_:__e\ff_idence that the arrangement is a_sh_am, or ‘ghgt _tl_lc lice_nsor asserted it_s_:;trad‘e secrets With the
knowledge that no trade secrets existed. If the challenger fails to carry this burder_;,of proof,

_ thc_?r_l the court should =c(_mciude that the actiqns of the liqenso_r_have_g sufﬁc_:__ient legal

, jg;;ti_ﬁc__atipq and are reasonably necessary to enforce the li(_:en_sor_’s_ j;rgde secrets. 766 F. Supp.
| at 689 o

_Similar to the owner of a process patent, the owner o_f a trade secret under

: ordinary circumstances may grant an exclusive license Without antitrust implications. See '

Frank M. Denison, D.D S., Inc. v. Wesg‘more Dental Arts,_P. C., 212 U.S.P._Q.__6017, 603 (W.D.

Pa_? .1 ?8 1) I-_Iowgever, unlike a patent _licensor? the licensor of a trade secret is not relying upon

| _(an_d hencc, not arguably improperly extending) a statutorily-based exclusivity, which

historic_ally .has been a concern of the alj.titrust_laws_f Thus, at least one commentator has |

suggested that a licensor of a trade secret process may have somewhat greater latitude under the
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antitrust laws than a probess patent licensor. ROGER M. MILGRIM, MILGRIM ON TRADE

SECRETS 10-175 (1998).

'L PRICE RESTRICTIONS
The prohibition stated that it is unlawful for a patentee to require a licénséé fo

, adhere 1o, any spé_:_ciﬁed or m1n1mum pricc_: with respecit to. .the licen__s_é‘é’_s" Salel.of the licensed

‘_ - ‘_.p'ro:duqt.. Undf:_f the Sherman Act,a éombinatidgi f_(_)r:riéd _“for the purppse_.éﬁd: Wxththe effect of
réiéipg, déﬁreésing, ﬁxi_ng; pé-g_'gi.r_lg, Q'r ét_abilizing the price of I_a commodlty fnt_ér_state or foreign
. céfrﬁnerce is illégal pér se.” (L’hifed States v. '. Socoﬁj— Va'(_;uym:O_il,_lC_'O., 3.10‘U.:.S. 150, 223, reh.
“denied, 310 U.S. 658 (1940); see also Kiefer-Stewart Co. v. Joseph E Seagram & Sons, Inc.,
340 U.S. 211, reh. denied, 340 US 939 (1951), overruled by Copperweld v. Independence
N _'fTrJ_be_ Corp., 467 U. 8. 752 (1984); and United States v. Trenton Potteries Co., 273 U.S. 392
(1927).

Recently, the Supreme Court overruled a thirty-year old precedent, and held that

vertically-imposed maximgm price restrictions should be analyzed under the rule of reason, and

_ aré not a per se antitrost Vi.ol_atiqn. _State Oi_l_ Co. v. Khan, 522 U.S. 3, 118 S. Ct. 275 .(1997),

- overruling Albrecht v. Herald Co., 390 US 145 (1968). The Court explained that_ although
_minimum price restrictions would remainder per se illegal, there was insufficient economic

Justification for per se invalidation of vertical maximum price fixing. The Supreme Court
decision in Khan, and much of the per se treatment of price fixing, is outside the _i_ntel.lectual

property context. There is little recent precedent analyzing whether intellectual property
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licenses should be analyzed under different standards than other agreements with regard to price
restrictions.

The Supreme Court previously has upheld the right of a patent owner to control
the prices at which its licensee may sell a patente(_l product_. _[__[nz'ted States v. General Electric
Co., 272 U.S. 476 (1926).

One of the valuable elements of the exclusive right of a patentee is to acquire profit by
the price of which the article is sold. The higher the price, the greater the profit, unless
it is prohibitory. When the patentee licenses another to make and vend, and retains the
" right to continueé to make and vend on his own account, the price of which his licensee
will sell will necessarily affect the price of which he can sell his own patented goods. It
* would seem entirely reasonable that he should say to the'licensee, “Yes, you may make
“and sell articles under my patent, but not so as to destroy the proﬁt that I w1sh to obtam
by making them and selling them myself.”
Id. at 490.

The Supreme Court and lower courts have applied the General Electric case
narrowly. The Supréme Court ifself has explained that General Electric “gives no support for a
patentee, acting in concert with all members of an industry, to issue substantially identical |
" licenses to all members of the industry under the terms of which the industry is completely

* “regimented, the production of competitive unpatented products suppressed, a class of =
distributors sdueezedfout, and prilc':es Eoﬁ'unpatent:éd products stabilized.” United States v. United
States Gypsum Cd., 333 U.S. 364, 400 (Frankfurter, J., Eonc’urring), reh. denied, 333 U.S. 869
(1948); see‘also Barber-Colmarn Co. v. National Tool Co., 136 F.2d 339 (6th Cir. 1943) (owner
of a process patent could not by license agreement lawfully control selling price of unﬁatented_

articles produced By"use of patented machine and process).
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However, the Generdl Electric hoiding haé no't. been 'OIVertu'rned; imd has

maintained some vitality in the lower courts. The D.C. Circuit, while noting that General

 Eleaie has “been WeHOuY fisstonod and hiss urvived twics aaly by the grace ot an aavally
~ divided court,” nonetheless recognized that it remains “the verbal frame 6f reference for tesﬁng
the'val.i'dity. of a Ii.c.én'éé:'res't.fi'c‘t‘idn'iﬁ 'ﬁlany sﬁbsequeni decisions.” Studiéﬁéesel[schaﬁ Kohle,
670 F.2d at 1131, éiting United States v. Huck Mz, Co., 382 U.S. 197 (1965); United States ».

 Line Material Co., 333 U.S. 287 (1948). Both the Fourth Circuit and the Supreme Court have

employed the General Electric framework in upho'lcl‘in,c;r agreements chéllenged as illegal price-

fixing. Duplan:C'Oi*p. v. Deering Milliken, 444 F. Supp. 648 (D.S.C. 1977) (agtéemént between

patent owner and licensing agent as to amount of use royalty to be paid by pui‘éﬁé_tsefs of

- patehtéd machine did not constitute ille'ga:I price-fixing), aff'd in part, rev'd in jjra'rt,. 594 F.2d

1979 (4th Cir. 1979), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 1015 (1980); Broadcast Music, Inc. v. Columbia

Broadcasting Sys., Inc., 441 U.S. 1 (1979) (Blanket ‘licen's.;'iﬁg of flat fee of pei‘fbrmahcé rights in

.cop-:»'yright'e'd musical compositidns through perfonniiﬁg rights socictics does not constitute bi‘ice-

" fixing per se).

"' Notwithstanding General Electric, the Jusiice Department has stated that it will

" “enforce the per se rule against resale price maintenance in the intellectual property context.”

IP Guidelines, at 20,743-3. Although this pronouncement was bfior to the Supreme Court

decision in Khan, given the longstanding existence of General Electric, there is a substantial

 question whether Khan would charige the DOJ view on this issue, at least outside the arena of

maximum vertical resale price maintenance.




V.  ACOQUISITION OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

The acquisition and accumulation of patents have been analyzed under the

ST

antltrust Iaws from two perspectwes - patents acqu1red by 1nternal 1nvent10n and patenté -

. ac:'qulred from thlrd partIes N | !

I_n general, simply .ac.cumulating pa_tegfté_‘by internal inv;:r_;ﬁqn does not implicate
the_ antig_u_st laws. .‘:‘The mere .agqumulg.tion of patents, no mgtjcer how many, i;_ng_t in and (_),.f

_ _i_tself:i.!legal.” .Automatic_ Radio Manufgctyring_go., Inc. v. queltine Research Inc., 339_U.S.
827,834, reh. denied, 340 U.S..St.lé (1950); Chishplm-ﬁyder Co.,_-Inc. v, Mecca_ Bro.g., Inc.,

_w[l 983-1] Trade _Casr. 65,406 ;it 70,406 (W.D.N.Y. }9_82). :B_y itself, “[i]ntense rescarch gctivity”
is not conder_nned by the Sherman Act as a violation .of § 1, nor are its consequen